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FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW


The Missouri Dental Board (Board) filed a complaint on July 25, 2001, seeking this Commission’s determination that the dentist license of Kenneth S. Powell, II, D.D.S., is subject to discipline for entering a plea of guilty in federal court to the charge of wire fraud.

On June 4, 2002, the parties filed a stipulation of facts.  The matter became ready for our decision on June 20, 2002, when the last written argument was filed.

Findings of Fact

1. Powell is and was at all relevant times a licensed and certified dentist in the State of Missouri.  

2. On or about March 30, 2000, a grand jury issued a 33-count indictment against Powell, Ronald Roberts, and Mark Williams in U.S. v. Ronald L. Roberts, Kenneth S. Powell and Mark E. Williams, Case No. 4:00CR00172ERW, in the United States District Court, Eastern District of Missouri, Eastern Division.

3. On or about December 6, 2000, Powell entered a plea of guilty to Counts 1 & 7 of the indictment and by doing so pled guilty to the charges of conspiracy to commit offenses in violation of 18 U.S.C. section 371(I) and wire fraud in violation of 18 U.S.C. section 1343(II).

4. On or about March 2, 2001, pursuant to the plea bargain, the District Court dismissed Counts 2-6, 8-10, 15, 18, and 21-28, and entered judgment against Powell as reflected in the sentence of imprisonment imposed against Powell on that date.

5. On or about March 15, 2001, the District Court amended its judgment to allow Powell to practice dentistry while in prison.

Conclusions of Law


We have jurisdiction to decide whether Powell’s license is subject to discipline.  Section 621.045.
  The Board has the burden to show that Powell has committed an act for which the law allows discipline.  Missouri Real Estate Comm’n v. Berger, 764 S.W.2d 706, 711 (Mo. App., E.D. 1989).

I.  Motion to Dismiss


On June 17, 2002, Powell filed a motion to dismiss for failure to state a claim upon which relief can be granted.  Powell argues that the Board failed to plead with specificity the exact basis for discipline and thereby violated due process requirements.  The Board argues in its reply brief filed on June 20, 2002,
 that its pleading is sufficiently specific because it states that Powell’s license is subject to discipline for entering a plea of guilty to a crime an essential element of which is fraud.   


The court of appeals has described the required degree of specificity for factual allegations as follows:

The specificity of charges could be at essentially three levels.  The most general is simply a statement that the accused has violated one or more of the statutory grounds for discipline without further elaboration, i.e., he has been grossly negligent.  Such as allegation is insufficient to allow preparation of a viable defense.  The second level involves a greater specificity in setting forth the course of conduct deemed to establish the statutory ground for discipline.  The third level involves a degree of specificity setting forth each specific individual act or omission comprising the course of conduct.  Due process requires no more than compliance with the second level.  

Duncan v. Missouri Bd. for Architects Professional Eng’rs and Land Surveyors, 744 S.W.2d 524, 539 (Mo. App., E.D. 1988) (citations omitted).


The Board seeks to discipline Powell’s license for his plea of guilty to wire fraud, not for the underlying conduct.  The Board’s complaint states:  “On or about December 6, 2000, Respondent entered a plea of guilty to the charge of Wire Fraud in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1343 . . . [and] was sentenced in the United States District Court for the Eastern District of Missouri.”  The Board alleges that the Powell’s guilty plea is cause for discipline under section 332.321.2(2) for entering a plea of guilty to an offense an essential element of which is fraud, and under section 332.321.2(13) for violating a professional trust or confidence.  The Board has abandoned its allegation that Powell is subject to discipline under section 332.321.2(5) for “[i]ncompetency, misconduct, gross negligence, fraud, misrepresentation or dishonesty in the performance of, or relating to one’s ability to perform, the functions or duties of any profession licensed or regulated by this chapter[.]”  (Stip. ¶¶ 10 and 12).


The Board’s pleadings meet the second level of specificity described in Duncan.  The pleadings set forth the course of conduct deemed to establish the statutory ground for discipline.  

That course of conduct is entering a plea of guilty to the criminal offense of wire fraud.  The pleadings are sufficiently specific to allow the licensee to prepare a viable defense.  Missouri Dental Bd. v. Cohen, 867 S.W.2d 295, 296 (Mo. App., W.D. 1993) (citing Duncan).  Therefore, the pleadings are sufficiently specific to meet the requirements of due process.


Powell further argues that the complaint should be dismissed because the conviction does not arise out of or affect the practice of dentistry and therefore cannot be grounds for discipline.  He cites to section 314.200, which provides:


No board or other agency created pursuant to the laws of the state of Missouri . . . for the purpose of licensing applicants for occupations and professions may deny a license to an applicant primarily upon the basis that a felony or misdemeanor conviction of the applicant precludes the applicant from demonstrating good moral character, where the conviction resulted in the applicant’s incarceration and the applicant has been released by pardon, parole or otherwise from such incarceration, or resulted in the applicant being placed on probation and there is no evidence the applicant has violated the conditions of his probation.  The board or other agency may consider the conviction as some evidence of an absence of good moral character, but shall also consider the nature of the crime committed in relation to the license which the application seeks, the date of the conviction, the conduct of the applicant since the date of the conviction and other evidence as to the applicant’s character.

(Emphasis added.)


Section 314.200 provides that no licensing board or agency may deny a license to an applicant primarily on the basis that the conviction precludes the applicant from demonstrating good moral character where the applicant has been released from incarceration and there is no evidence that the applicant has violated the conditions of his probation.  That statute has no bearing on this Commission’s decision because Powell is not an applicant for a license and because we are not asked to deny a licensure application.  This Commission decides only whether there is cause to discipline Powell’s existing license.  The Board will decide the 

appropriate degree of discipline after we certify our record to it.  Section 621.110.  Further, there is no indication that Powell has been released from incarceration.  Even if he has been released, he has not been precluded from demonstrating good moral character.  For all these reasons, we deny Powell’s motion to dismiss.  

II.  Conviction


The Board alleges that Powell’s license is subject to discipline pursuant to section 332.321.2(2), which provides:


2.  The board may cause a complaint to be filed with the administrative hearing commission as provided by chapter 621, RSMo, against any holder of any certificate of registration or authority, permit or license required by this chapter or any person who has failed to renew or has surrendered his or her certificate of registration or authority, permit or license for any one or any combination of the following causes:

*    *    *


(2) The person has been finally adjudicated and found guilty, or entered a plea of guilty or nolo contendere, in a criminal prosecution pursuant to the laws of any state or of the United States, for any offense reasonably related to the qualifications, functions or duties of any profession licensed or regulated pursuant to this chapter, for any offense an essential element of which is fraud, dishonesty or an act of violence, or any offense involving moral turpitude, whether or not sentence is imposed[.]

(Emphasis added.)  


Powell pled guilty and was convicted of wire fraud in violation of 18 U.S.C. section 1343, which provides in part:


Whoever, having or devised or intending to devise any scheme or artifice to defraud, or for obtaining money or property by means of false or fraudulent pretenses, representations, or promises, transmits or causes to be transmitted by means of wire, radio, or television communication in interstate or foreign commerce, any writings, signs, signals, 

pictures, or sounds for the purpose of executing such scheme or artifice, shall be fined under this title or imprisoned not more that five years, or both.

(Emphasis added.)  


An essential element is one that must be proven for a conviction in every case.  State ex rel. Atkins v. Missouri Bd. of Accountancy, 351 S.W.2d 483, 485 (Mo. App., K.C. 1961).  Fraud is an intentional perversion of truth to induce another, in reliance on it, to part with some valuable thing belonging to him.  State ex rel. Williams v. Purl, 128 S.W. 196, 201 (Mo. 1910).  Fraud is an essential element of wire fraud.


Powell argues that his conviction arises out his real estate investment company, not out of the practice of dentistry.  However, section 332.321.2(2) provides, in the disjunctive, a number of independent causes for which discipline will lie.  One such cause involves an offense “reasonably related to the qualifications, functions or duties of [the] profession.”  Another cause for discipline, and at issue herein, involves the conviction of “any offense an essential element of which is fraud.”  Powell’s construction of the statute presupposes that the causes are set forth in the conjunctive, which is not the case.


Powell pled guilty to an offense that has fraud as an essential element.  The statute does not mandate that the offense arise out of the practice of dentistry.  Therefore, we conclude that Powell’s license is subject to discipline under section 332.321.2(2).  

III.  Violation of Professional Trust or Confidence


The Board alleges that Powell’s license is subject to discipline under section 332.321.2(13), which allows discipline for a “[v]iolation of any professional trust or confidence[.]”  A professional trust or confidence arises when a person relies on the special knowledge and skills of a professional that are evidenced by professional licensure.  State Bd. of Nursing v. Morris, BN-85-1498, at 11 (Mo. Admin. Hearing Comm’n Jan. 4, 1988).  A 

professional trust may exist not only between the professional and his clients, but also between the professional and his employer and colleagues.  Id.

The Board argues that Powell’s guilty plea shows that he lacks good moral character and has thereby violated a professional trust or confidence.  Powell argues that the stipulation of facts does not establish that he has violated any professional trust or confidence.


The parties stipulated to the guilty plea alone, not to any of the underlying conduct.  The stipulation does not show that Powell violated the trust or confidence that a client, colleague or employer placed in Powell’s professional knowledge or skills.  We conclude that Powell’s license is not subject to discipline under section 332.321.2(13).  

Summary


We conclude that Powell’s license is subject to discipline under section 332.321.2(2), but not under section 332.321.2(13).  


SO ORDERED on July 25, 2002.



________________________________



CHRISTOPHER GRAHAM



Commissioner

	�Statutory references are to the 2000 Revised Statutes of Missouri, unless otherwise noted.





�Pursuant to the parties’ stipulation and by order of this Commission, the initial briefs were due no later than June 17, 2002, and reply briefs were due no later than June 20, 2002.
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